A short history of the short-lived Aked’s Mill

Aked’s Mill stood on the west side of Farnhill Main Street, on the site of what is now a terrace of
private houses opposite the Institute; numbers 31 to 37.

There is no known photograph of the mill building, but the photograph below shows the mill
chimney, which was demolished in 1906. The mill chimney was situated on the east side of Main
Street — the flue went under the road from the mill’s boiler room.
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The demolition of Aked’s chimney.
The building in the foreground was a mill warehouse and later became Kildwick & Farnhill Institute

This article provides a short history of Aked’s Mill using information from legal documents, census
returns, electoral rolls and births, marriages and death records.



The Aked family and the ownership of the mill
Keighley origins

In the census return for 1851 James Aked is recorded as living in Change Gate, Keighley, with his
wife, Mary (nee Dawson); their son Thomas, born in 1840 but recorded as being aged 6; and their
daughter Emma, aged 3. James is listed as being a Linen Draper. The household also includes a

Servant, two Milliners, and a Draper’s Shopwoman — perhaps suggesting that James was running a
drapery business ?
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The Aked family in 1851

Note: The family also included an older son, Edwin (b. 1837), who was at school near Blackpool in
1851.

By 1861 Thomas, who was still living at home with his parents, but by this time in Albert Street
(Cottage ?), Keighley, appears to have adopted his father’s trade. In fact the whole family, along
with two apprentices and an assistant, were involved in the business.
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The Aked family in 1861

Purchase of a mill in Farnhill
In 1869 James Aked bought property in Farnhill, including:

e A worsted mill, with a boiler and other equipment

e Four cottages adjoining the mill, two (at least) of which had been occupied by Jonathan
Priestley and Samuel Overend

e A warehouse nearby, along with adjoining yard, garden and some waste ground



This was purchased from Mr. J. Topham of Bradley for a total of £1000, made up of £100 cash and a

loan of £900 made by Topham to James Aked. This loan was passed on to Topham’s sons when he
died later in 1869.

By the time of the 1871 census the Aked household had reduced somewhat. The family were still
living in Keighley, but both James and his son Thomas appear to have switched from working with
linen to worsted. Perhaps this was because of the nature of the mill ?
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The Aked family in 1871
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James Aked died in 1872 and was buried in Utley cemetery. Probate was granted jointly to his sons
Edwin and Thomas, both of whom were recorded as being Worsted Spinners.

Note: The location of Edwin Aked between 1851and 1876 is uncertain. However all of his children
were born in the Keighley area between 1860 and 1873.

Shared ownership of Aked’s mill

It appears that James Aked’s will may have split the ownership of the Farnhill Mill between Edwin
and Thomas as, in the Farnhill electoral roll of 1876, both are recorded as owning half a share each.
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6399 |[Aked Edwin Cononley Half Share of Freehold Mill|Farnhill

6400 [Aked Thomas Towning place, Crosshills (Owner, Freehold Mill, ~hal
R share Farnhill Mill
6401 [Baldwin Joseph Ben- |
PR Rarnhill e ANAT AT Avvan Farnhill

Part of the Farnhill electoral roll for 1876.
Both Edwin and Thomas Aked are eligible to votes as they are joint-owners of a mill.

The 1881 census returns record Thomas living at an unspecified address in High Farnhill with his wife
Martha and three children, including 4 year-old Thomas Oswald; he is listed as being a Worsted
Spinner. Edwin is recorded as living at Brooklyn Villa, Cononley and lists his occupation as “Worsted
Spinner — employing 50 work people consisting of men, girls and boys”.



Edwin Aked’s occupation, as recorded in the 1881 census.

The half-sharing of the mill between Edwin and Thomas appears to have continued probably until

1886; at which time it seems that Edwin relinquished his half in favour of his three eldest sons
(Richard Metcalfe, James Edwin, and Henry Dawson).

In October 1886 James Edwin wrote to the headmaster of Kildwick school:
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Letter from James (Edwin) Aked, found inside the Kildwick school log book



The arrangement of split ownership between Thomas and his nephews (Edwin’s three sons) did not
last long. By 1891 Richard Metcalfe and his brother Henry Dawson had emigrated to the USA; and
Edwin had moved to Southport, along with James Edwin and several of his (Edwin’s) daughters.

In the 1891 census James Edwin was recorded as being “Artist / Art Decorator — sculptor”; and Edwin
appears on the electoral roll as being the owner of a “Dwelling House”. Edwin is not recorded in the
1891 census, but in 1901 he appears as a “Retired Worsted Spinner”.

The financial affairs of Thomas Aked - 1888 to 1893

Between 1891 and 1900 sole ownership of the mill seems to have resided with Thomas Aked, who
appears in the electoral roll as the owner of “Freehold buildings, comprising Mill and Cottages”.

But from 1888 to 1893 he was involved in some interesting financial dealings, suggesting that there
may have been some degree of trouble a’ t’ mill.

In October 1888 Thomas Aked agreed to settle his debt to the sons of J. Topham for the sum of
£910. Then, on the same day (or very soon afterwards), he agreed to take out another loan from the
Topham brothers for £700 at an interest rate of £4/10/0d per £100, per annum.

Also, before the end of the month, he took out a line of credit with Craven Bank Ltd.
Less than three years later Aked sold off some property on Main Street, Farnhill.
To Holgate Green — two cottages, with:

e Tothe east —a dwelling house, owned by Thomas Aked but already contracted to be sold to
Jackson Wilson (see following).

o Tothe west —three dwelling, owned by Thomas Aked and occupied by James Walmsley,
S. Spencer and Mrs. Drake.

To Jackson Wilson — two cottages, with:

e To the east — Farnhill Primitive Methodist Chapel
e To the west —the properties being sold to Holgate Green.

Jackson Wilson was already living in the basement of these two cottages.

Note 1: These four cottages were, presumably, the ones that James Aked bought, along with the
Mill, in 1869.

Note 2: The Chapel referred to cannot be the 1897 chapel that closed in 2015. It must be an earlier
building known to have existed, further down the road.

With the money realised from these sales, Thomas Aked was able to pay off the mortgage he had
with the Topham brothers. For the first time, the mill and remaining property in Farnhill Main Street
belonged to the Aked family outright.



The end of the mill and the death of Thomas Aked

Thomas Aked died in March 1903, aged 62. He was buried in Kildwick churchyard.

Gravestone of Thomas Aked, in Kildwick churchyard

By this time, however, Aked’s Mill had ceased to exist.

A legal document shows that at the time of his death Thomas Aked’s property amounted to: a
warehouse with outbuildings, yard and ground; and four dwelling houses — formerly a worsted mill
—and now #31 to #37 Main Street. The dwelling houses were occupied by J. Backhouse, T. Green,
J.W. Sutcliffe and Martha Aked (Thomas’s wife).

Clearly Aked’s Mill had already been converted into houses.
The same document goes on to outline the depressing state of Thomas Aked’s finances:

o The deeds of all Thomas Aked’s property had “some time ago” been handed over to
Bradford Commercial Joint Stock Company Bank, as security against a loan.

e At the time of his death the debt on the loan exceeded the value of the properties.

e The full amount owing to the bank was reckoned at £1200.



The Aked’s Mill had gone, but the business continued

There is significant evidence to show that by the time the mill building in Main Street was converted
to houses, Thomas Aked had already transferred his business elsewhere; to Airedale Mill, on the
opposite side of the Leeds-Liverpool canal.
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Airedale Mill — part of a photograph taken from the tower of St. Andrew’s church, Kildwick
In the account of his funeral the Craven Herald notes that:

The works of Messrs E. Watson and T. Aked were closed at 10.30am in order that employees
might attend the funeral.

And amongst the wreaths it lists those from:

e Mrs E. Watson
o the employees of E. Watson
o the employees of the deceased

This report implies that Thomas Aked was still running a business, and that there was some
connection between Aked and Mrs Watson.

In fact Airedale Mill was owned by Mrs. Ellen Watson who ran a business on the third floor and in
the garret. The company “Aked & Son” used the first two floors.



Thomas Oswald takes on the debts left by his father

Following Thomas’s death, probate was granted jointly to his two sons: Ernest Dawson and Thomas
Oswald. His assets were reckoned to total less than £360.

AKED Thomas of Farnhill-mill Kildwick Yorkshire worsted-spinner died 2 March 1903 Probate Wakefield 20 July to Ernest Dawson
Aked banker's-clerk Effects £359 17s. 4d. ; 3

Grant of probate on the death of Thomas Aked in 1903

In September 1903 Ernest Dawson agreed to relinquish all claim on his father’s estate and Thomas
Oswald agreed to take on the full amount of his father’s debt with Bradford Commercial Joint Stock
Company Bank.

By May 1904 the total amount of the debt had risen to over £4000. Fortunately for Thomas Oswald,
by then the Bradford Commercial Joint Stock Company Bank had gone into liquidation. At a meeting
between the bank, the liquidators, and Aked it was agreed that the bank and liquidators would
accept £2500 in full settlement of the debt, which was promptly paid off.

The final end of Aked’s

Aked’s Mill had gone, but Thomas Oswald Aked continued in business, running Aked & Son from
Airedale Mill. Up until 1905 he continued to appear on the Farnhill electoral roll; recorded as living
in the village (at an unspecified address) and being the joint owner of a mill.

The latter statement is almost certainly an exaggeration. There is no evidence that Aked owned any
part of Airedale Mill.

However, in the end it didn’t matter. Fate was going to deal Aked and the rest of the village a
devastating blow.

In the early hours of Wednesday March 31st 1906 Airedale Mill was totally destroyed by fire. Aked
& Son lost material worth around £5000 (equivalent to around £650,000 in 2022 prices).
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Airedale Mill. A George Whiteoak (GW) photograph

Thomas Oswald’s finances never recovered from the blow of the Airedale Mill fire. He very soon left
the village and from 1907 is recorded as living in Harden, his only property in Farnhill being the old
mill warehouse on Main Street.

Thomas Oswald Aked was declared bankrupt in 1909 and very soon afterward he emigrated to
Canada with his wife and children.

Appendix 1 - Thomas Oswald Aked in Canada

Having sustained losses of around £5000 in the fire at Airedale Mill in 1906, Thomas Oswald Aked
emigrated to Canada in 1909; along with his wife, May, and his daughter, Elizabeth Aleen.

The family settled in Toronto, where Thomas Oswald continued working in wool trade.

In 1921 he took out a US patent for a “Combined Yarn Holder and Darner”.



1,448,175, COMBINED YARN HOLDER AND DARNER,
TroMmas OswaLd AXeD, Torouto, Ontarlo, Canala,
Filed Aug. 26, 1921. Serial No. 405,633, 3 Claims.
(Cl. 223—14.)

1. A comblned yarn holder and darner consisting of
i stand comprising a base having an annular recess in
its top surface and an arbor projecting vertlcally from the
center of the recess, combined with a removable reel
comprizing a spindle rotatably mounted upon the arbor
having at one end a disk of ovoldal cross-scction seated
in the recess of the base.

He died in 1950 and his cremated remains returned to the UK where he was interred in the same
plot as his mother and father.



Graves inscription of Thomas Oswald Aked, in Kildwick churchyard

His wife and daughter were subsequently interred in the same plot.

In reporting his death the Ottawa Journal said he was “prominent in Eastern Canadian textile
circles”.

Appendix 2 - The remains of Aked’s Mill

By the time of the Airedale Mill fire, the only visible remains of Aked’s mill in Farnhill Main Street
was the chimney and the warehouse on the opposite side of the road.

The chimney was taken down in May 1906 (see photograph on page 1) on the instructions of the
Rural District Council, who considered it unsafe.

It may have been that by this time Aked could not afford to have it demolished and instead made a
gift of it. This gave the chimney a second life, as reported in the Craven Herald.
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Tz Orp Mitt CHIMNEY belonging to the firm of
Messrs T. Aked & Son, which has stood for so many
years in Farnhill, is now being pulled down, as tho
rural districs council & while sgo prooounced it un-
safe. The chimney has been given to Mesars William
Smith & Co, on tho upderstanding thad they are
responsible for the work of pulling it down. v
intend rebuilding it on their own premises in place of
the existing one, which is insufficient for sheir require-
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Craven Herald report — 16/5/1906

The mill warehouse was sold to the Brigg family, who lived in Kildwick Hall, and in 1911 it became
the Kildwick and Farnhill Village Institute.

Kildwick and Farnhill Village Institute (left) with the houses on the site of Aked’s Mill (right)

In 2022 members of the Local History Group were invited to visit 35 Main Street where the current
owners had discovered further remains of the old mill.




The vaulted basement of the house formed the mill’s boiler room and the flue that led under the

road to the chimney is clearly visible.

End of flue in boiler room.



Coal was delivered to the mill by barge on the Leeds & Liverpool Canal. The arched entrance for the
coal from the canal can still be seen.

Entrance to the mill coal store from the canal

Coal was loaded onto wagons and most of the basement was used as a coal store.

A set of the original coal wagon wheels was found buried by the flue entrance. This style of wheel
was used by coal wagons in some pits and examples can still be seen at the pit museum in
Ashington. The following photographs show them after they had been renovated.



Original coal wagon wheels, found in the basement of 35 Main Street



The basement coal store had elaborate, and clearly second hand, beams set on cast iron pillars. In
2020 when the renovation of the basement commenced these beams were all covered in coal dust
that must have been in place since 1903.

Wooden beams mounted on cast-iron pillars —in the coal store

The builders were clearly proud of their work as can be seen by the carpenters mark on one of the
beam:s.

Carpenter’s marks



